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Introduction
"Federal antitrust enforcement agencies are more active now than they have
been in more than fifteen years."(1) This seems to be particularly accurate in the
computer industry with the Department of Justice's (DOJ) pursuit of Microsoft and the
Federal Trade Commission's (FTC) action against Intel. This article will briefly
review antitrust law, and will then revisit antitrust enforcement in the computer
industry against Microsoft, including the investigation initiated in 1990 by the FTC,
the shift to the DOJ in 1993, the complaint and proposed consent judgment filed in
July 1994, the decisions by the district court(2) and the United States Court of Appeals
for the District of Columbia in 1995.(3) The DOJ renewed this pursuit in October 1997
and in May 1998, the DOJ and twenty states filed action against Microsoft. In June
1998, the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals lifted a preliminary injunction on Microsoft
as the DOJ had not shown a reasonable probability of success on the merits.(4) This
article examines the case against Microsoft until the October 19, 1998 trial, which was
ongoing at the time of this publication. This author will conclude with
recommendations and predictions concerning the pending litigation.

Antitrust Law
Federal antitrust law in the United States was initiated in 1890 with the
enactment of the Sherman Act, which was passed without any allocation of funds for
its enforcement.(5) Section one of this act prohibits any contract, combination, or
conspiracy in restraint of trade or commerce.(6) The first price-fixing case to reach the
U.S. Supreme Court under this section, United States v. Trans-Missouri Freight
Association, held that all contracts are included under the language of the section, and
"no exception or limitation can be added without placing in the act that which has
been omitted by Congress."(7)
Section two of the Sherman Act prohibits monopolization or attempted
monopolization, combination or conspiracies to monopolize commerce.(8) The
following examples illustrate the Court's various attempts to apply these doctrines. In
1911, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the Standard Oil Company of New Jersey
illegally monopolized the petroleum refining industry.(9) Two weeks later, the
Supreme Court used the rule of reason analysis against American Tobacco for
monopolizing the tobacco products and cigarette markets.(10) In 1918, however, the
U.S. Supreme Court held that United Shoe Machinery Company did not monopolize
because a five company merger involved producers of complementary machines, and
found that their large market share was due to superior efficiency and ownership of
patent rights.(11) In 1920, the U.S. Supreme Court held that U.S. Steel also did not
monopolize under the Sherman Act, stating that mere size is not an offense and that

the law requires overt actions.(12) In 1946, however, the U.S. Supreme Court
in American Tobacco Company v. United States reversed this trend.(13) In United
States v. Griffith Amusement Company in 1948, the Court stated that specific intent to
achieve monopoly power need not be proved if monopoly power has resulted.(14) In
another case against United Shoe Machine Corporation, the Court in 1954 found that
the company held a monopoly on the market.(15)
According to the Supreme Court in United States v. Grinnell Corporation,
monopolization, under section two of the Sherman Act, requires the possession of
monopoly power in the relevant market and the willful acquisition or maintenance of
that power, as distinguished from growth or development as a consequence of a
superior product, business acumen, or historical accident.(16) In Brown Shoe Company
v. United States, the court declared that the relevant market has two components: the
relevant product market and the relevant geographic market.(17)
Sherman Act violations are felonies punishable by fines and sentences,(18) by
civil actions brought by the DOJ,(19) and by private actions that may result in treble
damages.(20) Violations may be investigated by the FTC or the Antitrust Division of
the DOJ. The Federal Trade Commission Act, passed in 1914, created the FTC and
gave it broad advisory and regulatory functions.(21)
The Clayton Act, also passed by Congress in 1914, added specificity to
antitrust law by prohibiting any of the following if the effects may be to substantially
lessen competition or tend to create a monopoly in any line of commerce: under

section two, the use of discriminatory prices in the sale of commodities;(22) under
section three, exclusive dealings and tying contracts;(23) and under section seven, the
acquisition of stock or other share capital of another corporation.(24) Tying
arrangements condition the purchase of one product on the purchase of
another.(25) Tying arrangements may violate both section one of the Sherman Act and
section three of the Clayton Act.(26) According to the Supreme Court in Eastman
Kodak Company v. Image Technical Services, Incorporated, tying arrangements are
per se illegal if the seller has appreciable economic power in the tying product's
market and a significant amount of interstate commerce is affected.(27)
The Clayton Act has been amended by Congress on numerous occasions. The
Robinson-Patman Act altered section two. Section two states that a seller in
commerce may not discriminate directly or indirectly in price between purchasers of
goods of like grade and quality if the effect is to substantially lessen competition or to
tend to create a monopoly, or to injure, destroy, or prevent competition with the seller
or anyone who knowingly receives the benefits, or with customers.(28) Discriminatory
promotional payments or services not made available to all competing customers on
proportionally equal terms are prohibited.(29) Buyers are liable for knowingly inducing
or receiving unlawful discriminatory prices.(30) The FTC was granted enforcement
power and the authority for establishing criteria for determining the reasonableness of
quantity discounts and establishing price dealings. The DOJ was also granted
enforcement power.

The Celler-Kefauver Act of 1950 changed section seven of the Clayton Act to
state that Ano corporation subject to the jurisdiction of the FTC shall acquire the
whole or any part of the assets of another corporation engaged also in commerce
where . . . the affect of such acquisition may be substantially to lessen competition, or
to tend to create a monopoly."(31) The Telecommunications Act of 1996 modified this
section very slightly.(32)

United States v. Microsoft
Microsoft Corporation designs and sells operating systems (software that acts
as the central nervous system for a personal computer) and applications software
(software which operates on top of the operating system and enables the user to
perform a variety of functions, such as word processing, spreadsheets, and database
management). Microsoft's share of the operating systems market is consistently well
above 70%. Microsoft's MS-DOS has been used in 120 million personal computers as
of June 30, 1993; Microsoft's Windows, a user-friendly graphical user interface, has
been used in approximately 50 million personal computers.(33) The DOJ alleged in
1997 that Microsoft has enjoyed for some time a virtual monopoly in the operating
systems market, with a market share approaching 80%.(34)
The costs of producing software are almost exclusively in the design, and
marginal costs (the cost of producing one extra unit) are virtually zero. The software

market is characterized by increasing returns, resulting in natural barriers to entry into
the industry.(35)
The Federal Trade Commission began investigating Microsoft in
1990.(36) According to Microsoft, the FTC considered a wide range of practices,
including: that Microsoft gave its own applications software developers the
information about Microsoft operating systems software before Microsoft provided
this information to other applications developers; that Microsoft announced that it was
developing a nonexisting version of operating software to dissuade original equipment
manufacturers (OEMs) from procuring a competitor's operating system; that
Microsoft required OEMs that licensed Microsoft operating systems software to also
license Microsoft applications software; and that Microsoft licensed its operating
systems on a per processor basis, which means the license required the OEM to pay
Microsoft a royalty for all computers of the type specified in the license. Microsoft
further asserts that the FTC expanded its investigation to include every aspect of
Microsoft's business, including operating systems software, applications software, and
peripherals. In late 1993, the FTC commissioners were deadlocked in a two-to-two
vote with one member abstaining, so no administrative action was filed by the FTC
against Microsoft.
In an unprecedented move, the DOJ's Antitrust Division revived the
investigation, and amassed one million pages of documents, conducted over 100

interviews, and spent 14,000 attorney hours and 3,600 economist hours in their
eleven-month investigation of Microsoft.(37)
In June 1994, Microsoft and the DOJ initiated settlement negotiations.
According to former DOJ Antitrust Division Attorney Anne Bingaman, at the end of
negotiations she was within twenty minutes of suing Microsoft, as there was an
attorney in federal court with a complaint against Microsoft if negotiations broke
down; Microsoft founder Bill Gates agreed to the proposed consent judgment.(38)
On July 15, 1994, the United States filed a complaint(39) charging Microsoft
with monopolizing interstate commerce in the market for personal computer operating
systems, and entering into unlawful contracts and combinations which unreasonably
restrain trade in interstate commerce in personal computer operating systems, thus
violating the Sherman Antitrust Act, Sections one(40) and two.(41) The United States
and Microsoft filed the proposed consent judgment the same day,(42) which was
significantly and substantially narrower than the complaint.(43) This proposed final
judgment covered Microsoft's operating system software MS-DOS 6.22, Microsoft
Windows 3.11, Windows for Workgroups 3.11, Windows 95, and predecessor and
successor versions of these products.(44)
Under the consent decree, Microsoft is enjoined from entering into any
licensing agreement exceeding one year for any covered product. This period may be
extended for an additional year on the same terms at the sole option of the original
equipment manufacturer (OEM), who licensed the operating systems to include them

in the personal computers they make.(45) Microsoft is also enjoined from entering into
licensing agreements that prohibit or restrict the OEM's licensing, sale, or distribution
of any non-Microsoft operating system.(46) Microsoft may not enter into any per
processor license;(47) Microsoft may enter into only per copy licenses.(48)
An important provision of the consent decree states that Microsoft may not
enter into any licensing agreement whose terms are conditioned upon the licensing of
any other covered product, operating system software product, or other product.
Under the consent decree, however, Microsoft is not prohibited from developing
integrated products. This section arose from a 1993 complaint filed with the
Directorate General IV of the European Union by Novell. During the June 1994
negotiations with the DOJ, Microsoft proposed a joint settlement, and the three sides
signed a stipulation agreeing to the entry of the consent decree, including this
provision.(49)
Under the consent decree, Microsoft may not enter into any agreement
conditioned upon the OEM not licensing, purchasing, using, or distributing any nonMicrosoft product. Microsoft may not enter into any license agreement containing a
minimum commitment.(50) The consent decree further states that Microsoft's revenue
for any covered product shall not be derived from other than per copy(51) or per system
licenses. In any per system license: Microsoft may not require as a condition for the
license or for a volume discount, any OEM to include more than one of its personal
computer systems; Microsoft may not charge royalties for any covered product unless

the personal computer system is designated by the OEM in the license agreement or in
a written amendment; and the license agreement shall not impose a penalty for any
OEM choosing at any time to create a new system.(52)
Under the consent decree, OEMs that currently have a license agreement
inconsistent with any provision of the consent decree may, without penalty, terminate
or negotiate with Microsoft to amend the license agreement to eliminate the
inconsistent provisions. If an OEM has a license agreement that is inconsistent with
any provision of the final judgment, Microsoft may enforce a per processor license as
a per system license for all existing models that contain the microprocessor type(s)
specified in the license agreement, except those models that the OEMs opt in writing
to exclude. Microsoft, however, may not enforce prospectively any minimum
commitment.(53)
Concerning nondisclosure agreements, Microsoft may not enter into any which
extend beyond the soonest of: the commercial release of the product covered by the
nondisclosure agreement; an earlier public disclosure authorized by Microsoft; or one
year. Nondisclosure agreements may not restrict any person subject to the agreement
from developing software products that would run on competing operating systems
software. A nondisclosure agreement may not restrict any activities of any person to
whom no information under the agreement has been disclosed. The final judgment
ends 78 months after its entry.(54)

Under the Antitrust Procedures and Penalties Act, known also as the Tunney
Act, the proposed consent decree and a competitive impact statement were published
in the Federal Register, with 60 days for comment;(55) five comments were filed
within the comment period. Two status hearings were held on September 29,
1994(56) and November 2, 1994. At the November 2 hearing, U.S. District Court Judge
Sporkin gave interested parties until December 5, 1994 to request participation at the
January 20 hearing. Only Idea Associates (IDEA) requested participation. On January
10, 1995, anonymous entities filed an objection to the proposed final judgment,
arguing that Microsoft's anticompetitive behavior enabled it to achieve a monopoly in
the operating systems market for IBM-compatible personal computers, and that this
would enable Microsoft to maintain its monopoly in the operating systems market and
leverage itself to monopolize the applications and other software markets. Thus, the
anonymous amici, who alleged that they feared retaliation, argued that under
established economic theory, the proposed decree would neither result in an increase
in competition in the operating systems market, nor prevent Microsoft from
monopolizing the remainder of the software industry, as Microsoft pursues a vertical
integration strategy, and predatorily bundles and unbundles its products.(57) The
district court allowed these anonymous entities to participate without a hearing, over
objections by both the DOJ and Microsoft.
On January 18, 1995, the U.S. responded in a brief, arguing that the district
court should reject the position of the amici and enter the proposed consent

decree.(58) On January 20, 1995, Judge Sporkin convened a hearing on whether the
proposed final judgment was in the public interest, the standard under the Tunney Act.
Anne Bingaman, former Associate Attorney General for the Antitrust Division of the
DOJ, represented the United States and argued that the district court should sign the
consent decree, as it is within the public interest, and explained the standard under the
Tunney Act. Judge Sporkin responded, "Can I use my own pen to sign the decree or is
the government going to supply that? I mean, I got to have some role here." Attorney
Bingaman responded that the proposed settlement appropriately remedied the
anticompetitive effects challenged in the complaint, and concluded that the settlement
would eliminate artificial barriers that Microsoft had erected. All anticompetitive
practices except one were addressed, according to Attorney Bingaman, and the only
practice not addressed was volume discounting, which is standard practice in
America. Attorney Bingaman also objected to the anonymous amici's brief of January
10, 1995, which came long after the period for public comment expired on October
18, 1994.(59)
An attorney for IDEA was allowed to intervene at the January 20, 1995 hearing
to argue that the consent decree was not in the public interest and was not retroactive
concerning royalties. An attorney for the unnamed amici stated that they appeared
anonymously for fear of retaliation by Microsoft. An attorney for the Computer and
Communications Industry Association (CCIA) argued at the hearing that the consent
decree is not in the public interest as it does not go far enough. An attorney for

Microsoft claimed that they did not make false or misleading announcements of
products that didn't exist. Further, "Microsoft does not believe, and it is abundantly
supported by authority, that its licensing practices were anticompetitive or
unbundled." Nonetheless, Microsoft agreed to the consent judgment which they
believed provided more relief than the government could have won at trial.(60)
On February 14, 1995, Judge Sporkin held that the consent judgment was not in the
public interest, the standard of review under the Tunney Act.(61) The judge rejected the
judgment as being too narrow.(62) Before addressing this issue, however, Judge
Sporkin had to decide whether the three opposed groups, the anonymous groups,
CCIA, and IDEA, would be allowed to participate. Under the Tunney Act,(63) the
court permitted IDEA and CCIA to participate, not as intervenors, but in a manner and
extent to serve the public interests as the court deemed appropriate,(64) and the court
permitted the anonymous entities to file the memorandum of amici curiae in
opposition to the proposed final judgment.(65)
The district court held that the proposed decree was not in the public interest
for four reasons.(66) First, the government failed to provide the court with the proper
information needed to make a public interest determination. Second, the decree was
too narrow; it covered only MS-DOS and Windows, not all of Microsoft's operating
systems, which Judge Sporkin had expressed concern about. Third, the decree did not
constitute an effective antitrust remedy. Fourth, the enforcement and compliance
mechanisms were not deemed satisfactory. The court stated, "The picture that emerges

from these proceedings is that the U.S. government is either incapable or unwilling to
deal effectively with a potential threat to this nation's economic well being . . . It is
clear to this court that if it signs the decree presented to it, the message will be that
Microsoft is so powerful that neither the market nor the government is capable of
dealing with all of its monopolistic practices."(67)
Both the United States and Microsoft appealed. Microsoft's appellate brief
alleged that the district court erred in refusing to enter the consent decree, which
would make other antitrust defendants wary of entering into consent
decrees.(68) Further, Microsoft alleged that the district court improperly sought out and
considered extrajudicial sources of information, such as the book, Hard Drive, an
expose of the Microsoft corporation.(69) Due to the consideration of extrajudicial
information, Microsoft requested that the case be remanded to another district
judge.(70)
In the United States' appellate brief, the government alleged that the district
court vastly exceeded its authority and threatened substantial damage to the public
interest in antitrust enforcement.(71) The final judgment, or the consent decree, was
within the reaches of the public interest, and the district court's justifications for
holding to the contrary were legally insufficient.(72)
At oral argument before the United States Court of Appeals for the District of
Columbia Circuit on April 24, 1995, the government argued that the decree should be
entered, as a matter of law.(73) The district court, according to the government,

exceeded its authority under the Tunney Act. Microsoft joined the U.S. in that
argument, conceded that Microsoft's products were "popular," and claimed that
Microsoft was doing a service to the public by making products available that people
want to buy.(74) CCIA stated that the proposed decree was not in the public interest as
there was not enough information to make that determination. Moreover, it did not
state adequate relief, as the barriers to entry were not addressed. IDEA also objected
to the consent decree as an ineffective remedy because it lacked retroactive relief,
such as a refund of prepaid royalties.(75)
On June 16, 1995, the D.C. Circuit held that the proposed consent decree was
in the public interest under the Tunney Act, and that the district court had exceeded its
authority in holding to the contrary.(76) The court of appeals reversed the district
court's decision and remanded the case to the chief judge of the district court for
reassignment to another judge to enter an order approving the decree.(77)
The D.C. Circuit stated that the heart of this case was the proper scope of the
public interest inquiry by the district court. When Congress passed the Tunney Act, it
intended that the district court should make an independent determination of whether
a proposed consent decree was in the public interest, instead of being a judicial rubber
stamp of the decree.(78) The difficulty with the above legislative history was the lack
of useful precedent of an appellate court affirming a district court's rejection of a
consent decree as not being in the public interest.(79) The most prominent post-Tunney
Act consent decree, agreed to by AT&T, was modified by the district court with both

parties' agreement. Also, with acquiescence by both parties, nonparties were allowed
to intervene. Although the judgment was affirmed by the U.S. Supreme Court, three
justices dissented, expressing concerns about the Tunney Act's constitutionality and
the implication of the Court's decision.(80)
In determining whether a consent decree is in the public interest under the
Tunney Act, a district court may consider the decree's competitive impact and the
impact on the general public.(81) The Act authorizes the district judge to take
testimony of government officials as the court may deem appropriate.(82) The D.C.
Circuit Court of Appeals agreed with the United States, however, in rejecting the
district court's efforts to reach beyond the complaint to evaluate claims that the
government did not make.(83) The district judge is authorized to review only the
decree, not the actions of the government.(84) According to the D.C. Circuit Court of
Appeals, a district court may properly inquire about product lines covered in the
decree(85) as well as compliance measures.(86)
Since the district judge exceeded his authority, however, the case was
remanded with instructions to enter the proposed decree. To reassign the case to a
different judge on remand as Microsoft requested, the court of appeals simply had to
find that the facts might reasonably cause an objective observer to question the judge's
impartiality, not actual bias or prejudice. The circuit court found that Judge Sporkin's
actions could cause a reasonable observer to question whether Judge Sporkin would
have difficulty putting his previous views and findings aside. The circuit court stated

that Judge Sporkin did the following: inquired into allegations outside the complaint;
relied on the book Hard Drive, which examined the growth of Microsoft, including
allegations of vaporware or preannounced software that was not yet in marketable
form; did not fulfill his duty to consider the impact of the anonymity of the amici;
accepted ex parte submissions; and made several comments which evidenced his
distrust of Microsoft's lawyers and showed his poor view of Microsoft's
practices.(87) Therefore, the case was remanded to a different district court judge for
signature.(88)
In April, 1995, the DOJ filed suit under section 7 of the Clayton Act.(89) to
enjoin Microsoft from acquiring its competitor in the financial applications software
market, Intuit Corporation.(90) Intuit's Quicken had 69% of the market share of the
personal finance checkbook software market in 1994; Microsoft Money had 22%. The
DOJ alleged in the complaint that the effect of the proposed acquisition would be to
substantially lessen competition in that market. Microsoft then dropped its acquisition
bid.
According to the DOJ in its May 1998 complaint, Microsoft executives visited
Netscape in May 1995 and offered Netscape the following deal: if Netscape would not
compete in the operating systems or browser markets for Windows 95, then Microsoft
would not compete in the production of browsers for platforms other than Windows
95.(91) Netscape refused this alleged deal; this author sees no reason why Netscape

would have accepted it. In 1998, the DOJ termed this a Ablatant and illegal attempt to
monopolize the Internet browser market."(92)
In August 1996, Netscape Communications Corporation reportedly sent a letter
to the Department of Justice alleging that Microsoft engaged in conduct that violated
both the consent decree and antitrust laws. The letter, written by Netscape counsel
Gary Reback, alleged that Microsoft offered inducements to OEMs to make
competitors' browsers less accessible to users than Microsoft's own browser, Internet
Explorer. It was also alleged that Microsoft targeted Internet Service Providers with
inducements. Microsoft's response refuted these claims and called the letter Aa series
of wild and irresponsible allegations that have no basis in law or fact."
In October 1997, the DOJ asked a federal court to hold Microsoft in contempt
of the 1995 consent decree for requiring OEMs to license and distribute Microsoft's
web browser Internet Explorer (IE) as a condition of licensing Windows 95. By
forcing OEMs to license and distribute Internet Explorer on every PC with Windows
95, Microsoft not only violated the consent decree, but also sought to thwart incipient
competition and thereby protect its operating system monopoly, according to the
DOJ.(93) Under the consent decree, Microsoft was prohibited from forcing OEMs to
license "other" Microsoft products in order to purchase the Windows operating
system.(94) The government contended that Internet Explorer is a separate and distinct
"other product," not an "integrated product" allowed under the consent decree.

Microsoft was not prohibited from developing integrated products, under the consent
decree.(95)
The government further contended that Microsoft's overly broad nondisclosure
agreements threatened the ability of the court to enforce and the U.S. to determine and
secure Microsoft's compliance with the consent decree. The DOJ asked that Microsoft
cease and desist from requiring OEMs to license Internet Explorer as a condition of
obtaining Windows 95. The DOJ asked for a civil contempt order and a fine of $1
million for every day after the court order that Microsoft fails to carry out the court's
order.
Microsoft's reaction to the complaint was "astonishment." Microsoft held that
IE was an allowed integrated product. The DOJ knew since 1994 that Microsoft
intended to include Internet-related technologies in Windows 95 and, according to
Microsoft, that Microsoft would decide, along with market forces, what features
would be included in its operating system. Further, according to Microsoft, the DOJ's
original complaint made no reference to tying; the tying question was raised in the
1994 EU investigation. In December 1997, District Judge Jackson prospectively
preliminarily enjoined Microsoft from conditioning the licensing of Windows 95 or
any successor version on the inclusion of Internet Explorer, as the court found that the
DOJ had a substantial likelihood of success on the merits, and the balance of harms
also favored the issuance.(96) The court didn't hold Microsoft in civil contempt,
however, as there was not clear and convincing evidence that Microsoft had violated a

clear and unambiguous prohibition in the consent decree.(97) Whether Microsoft
actually violated the consent decree would be decided later. The court appointed
Lawrence Lessig as a Special Master to receive evidence and legal authority and
propose findings of fact and conclusions of law for consideration by the court.(98)
Microsoft claimed that it was in full compliance in good faith with the consent decree
and that none of the DOJ's arguments as to why Microsoft should be held in contempt
had merit. After the court issued the injunction, Microsoft and the DOJ entered a
stipulation that Microsoft would be in compliance with the injunction if it extended
the option to OEMs of running the Add/Remove Programs utility with respect to IE
3.x or removing the IE icon from the desktop and from the Programs list in the Start
menu and marking the file IEXPLORE.EXE "hidden."(99) However, Microsoft also
appealed the December 1997 district court ruling.
Microsoft also filed a motion to stay the proceedings before the Special Master
as there were no exceptional conditions to warrant one and, according to Microsoft,
Professor Lessig was biased against Microsoft. Microsoft submitted e-mails between
Lessig and Netscape that, according to Microsoft, showed bias by discussing the
difficulties Lessig had installing Internet Explorer. The DOJ opposed Microsoft's
motion to stay further proceedings before the Special Master as complex issues and
conditions of urgency supported reference to the Special Master. The district court
rejected Microsoft's request in January 1998.

To avoid being held in contempt of court, Microsoft agreed in January 1998 to
offer the latest version of Windows 95 without requiring easy access to IE. In
February 1998, the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals temporarily suspended the Special
Master until an April 1998 hearing. Also in February, the DOJ expanded its
investigation of Microsoft by sending civil subpoenas to MCI Communications Corp.,
America Online Inc., and other Internet Service Providers, reportedly requesting
documents and contracts with Microsoft. Japan's antitrust agency, the Fair Trade
Commission, was also investigating Microsoft's Tokyo unit for suspected
infringement of antitrust laws. In February 1998, Caldera amended its complaint
in Caldera, Inc. v. Microsoft Corp., pending in district court in Utah, to allege
Sherman Act violations based on Microsoft's alleged monopolization of the MS-DOS
operating system software market and functionally equivalent software.(100) Caldera
acquired DR-DOS from Novell and markets a successor product, Open DOS.
On May 12, 1998, the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals granted a stay of the
preliminary injunction insofar as it related to Windows 98,(101) paving the way for the
release of Windows 98 in June 1998. The court of appeals stated that the DOJ
presented no evidence that Windows 98 was not an exempt integrated product. The
court parenthetically stated that there was not evidence presented at all about
Windows 98, so far as the court knew.
Later that week, when negotiations deadlocked between Microsoft and DOJ's
Antitrust Division head Joel Klein, the DOJ and twenty states filed suits against

Microsoft on May 18, 1998, alleging Sherman Act sections 1(102) and 2(103) violations.
The DOJ claimed that agreements that Microsoft made with Internet Service
Providers (ISPs), Internet Content Providers (ICPs), and others under which those
companies agreed not to license, distribute, or promote non-Microsoft products
violated section 1 of the Sherman Act, as the agreements restrained trade and
competition in the Internet browser and operating system markets.(104) Similarly,
agreements made with OEMs restricting modification or customization of the PC
boot-up sequence and screens also violated section 1, according to the DOJ. The tying
of IE to the Windows operating system was also a section 1 violation because it
prevented customers from selecting an Internet browser and foreclosed competing
browsers from a channel of distribution, thereby reducing competition in the browser
market. In an unusual request for relief, in addition to a request for a preliminary and
permanent injunction against the above-mentioned behavior, the DOJ requested that
Microsoft be required to include a Netscape Internet browser with any operating
system that included Microsoft's browser software.(105)
Twenty states also filed suit alleging that Microsoft illegally tied other software
to Windows and unlawfully monopolized the market for its office productivity
suite.(106) The states also alleged violations of their unfair competition laws.
In Washington, D.C., in May 1998, District Judge Jackson consolidated the
federal and state government complaints and scheduled both for trial in September

1998.(107) Microsoft's request for extended discovery was denied, as was the DOJ's
request for injunctive relief in advance of the June 1998 release of Windows 98.
In June 1998, the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals gave Microsoft a stunning
victory when it reversed the preliminary injunction prohibiting Microsoft from
requiring OEMs who license Microsoft's operating systems software to license
Microsoft's Internet browser as well. The appeals court found that the district court
erred procedurally in entering a preliminary injunction without notice to Microsoft
and also erred substantively in the implicit construction of the consent
decree.(108) Since the preliminary injunction was issued without adequate notice to
Microsoft(109) and was based on an erroneous reading of the section of the consent
decree relating to "integrated" versus "other" products,(110) and since the DOJ had not
shown a reasonable probability of success on the merits,(111) the preliminary junction
was lifted.
Concerning the Special Master, the court of appeals vacated the reference, as
nothing remotely "exceptional" warranted one in this case, and thus the reference to
the Master was an imposition of a surrogate judge on the parties, and was either a
clear abuse of discretion or an exercise of wholly nonexistent discretion.(112) Thus,
Microsoft's claims that the Special Master was biased were not reached.
The dissenter in the court of appeals departed from the majority in the
interpretation of the consent decree. The dissenter believed that the majority opinion
unnecessarily narrowed the scope of inquiry of the district court on remand, as the

majority gave only one reasonable interpretation of the "integrated" versus "other"
products clause, and this interpretation was inconsistent with some precedent. The
dissent suggested a balancing approach which was rejected by the majority.
According to the dissent, the real question to be explored on remand to determine
whether a violation of the consent decree had occurred was whether the new
combination of formerly separate functionalities still contained an "other" product, or
if the two functionalities had been blended or "integrated" to an extent that they lost
their former identities and became one product.(113)
On August 11, 1998, District Judge Jackson allowed intervenors and members
of the public to be admitted to depositions, including the deposition of Bill
Gates,(114) under 15 U.S.C. § 30, the Publicity in Taking Evidence Act of 1913. The
next day Judge Jackson denied Microsoft's motion for a stay pending appeal of the
order.(115)
On September 14, 1998, District Judge Jackson denied most of Microsoft's
motion for summary judgment.(116) The complaints by the states and the Department
of Justice alleged that Microsoft:
unreasonably restrained competition by "tying" its Internet browser to
Windows 98; unreasonably restrained competition by entering into "exclusive
dealing" arrangements with various Internet providers; unreasonably restrained
competition by imposing "boot and start-up screen" restrictions on original
equipment managers (OEMs); illegally maintained a monopoly in its operating

system software through various exclusionary and predatory practices,
including, but not limited to, the tying and exclusive dealing arrangements; and
attempted to monopolize the market for Internet browsers.
On all of these counts, the court found material issues of fact genuinely in dispute, so
summary judgment was denied. The states raised a separate claim of monopoly
leveraging. Under this theory, a seller who has a monopoly in one product violates
section 2 of the Sherman Act when it uses a tie-in to obtain a competitive advantage in
a second market, even if there has not been an attempt to monopolize the second
market. Summary judgment was granted to Microsoft on this claim, as the continuing
viability of the monopoly leveraging theory was in serious doubt, according to the
court.

Conclusion
The majority opinion in the Court of Appeals for the D. C. Circuit in June 1998
was binding only with respect to the preliminary injunction and the special master.
Technically, it had no effect on the larger case filed in May 1998. The Court of
Appeals for the D.C. Circuit stated that "the proceedings below may continue," but
"the Department [of Justice] may well regard further pursuit of the case as
unpromising, especially given the alternate avenues developing in its recently
launched separate attacks on Microsoft's practices."(117)

The majority in the court of appeals found an interpretation of the consent
decree's language concerning "integrated" versus "other" products which the majority
thought was both consistent with antitrust tying law and the parties' intent. Under this
interpretation, to be used on remand, integration may be considered genuine if it is
beneficial to a purchaser combination. The court of appeals specifically stated,
however, that in making this inquiry, the court should embark on a product design
assessment. (118) In this particular instance, the majority stated that "it seems clear that
there is a reason why the integration must take place at Microsoft's level."(119) While
the court of appeals was inclined to conclude that Windows 95 with IE is a genuine
integrated product, the factual conclusion is left to the district court on remand.
The court of appeals thus sent a strong message in the United States v.
Microsoft case filed in 1997. The larger case brought by the DOJ and the states
remains, and trial began October 19, 1998. Some of the allegations in the May 1998
DOJ complaint, such as the 1995 proposal to divide the browser market,(120) if proven,
are more serious against Microsoft, and go beyond merely providing a better product
at a better price, as Microsoft contends that they are doing. In any event, Microsoft
faces a serious risk by going to trial, as section 5(a) of the Clayton Act allows any
private litigant to introduce findings from the trial as prima facie evidence, if
Microsoft loses or settles after the trial started.(121)
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